IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUL	24	1992	$\checkmark$
CLERK, SH	PREN	IE COL	JRT
By			
Chief Deputy Clerk			

 $FILED_{\text{SID J. WHITE}}D$ 

OLEN CLAY GORBY,

Appellant,

٧.

CASE NO. 79,308

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

# INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 271543

#

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Olen Clay Gorby is the appellant in this capital case. The "R"s and "T"s that are liberally scattered throughout the brief refer to the Record on Appeal and the transcript respectfully.

-1-

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An indictment filed in the circuit court for Bay County on June 27, 1990 charged Olen Gorby with one count of first degree murder, robbery with a deadly weapon, grand theft, and burglary of a dwelling (R 1849-50) to which the defendant pled not guilty (R 1852). The pretrial activity proceeded in the normal manner for such cases, and the defendant filed the following motions or notices:

 Notice of Intent to Rely on Defense of Insanity (R 2063). Withdrawn (R 2456).

2. Motion for Appointment of Neuropsychologist (R 2181). Granted (R 2217).

3. Motion to Suppress In-court Identification (R 2367). Denied (T 996).

Gorby proceeded to trial before the honorable Don T. Sirmons. The jury convicted him of all the crimes as charged except that it found him guilty of the lesser offense of robbery (R 2495-96). It also recommended a death sentence by a vote of 9-3 (R 2546). The defendant filed an Amended Motion for New Trial, which was denied (R 2641, 2663).

The court sentenced Gorby to death, and in support of that sentence, it found:

 Gorby was under sentence of imprisonment.

2. He had a prior conviction for a felony involving the use or threat of violence.

3. He committed the murder for financial gain.

-2-

4. The murder was especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel.

# (R 2622).

In mitigation, the court found:

1. Gorby was under the influence of a mental or emotional disturbance.

2. His capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was impaired.

3. His family love him.

4. He comes from a poor background.

5. He had an abusive father and a failed marriage.

6. He was affected by his sister being shot.

7. He was the victim of a car accident when he was four years old.

(R 2625-26).

As to the other convictions, the court sentenced Gorby as follows:

- 1. Robbery-15 years in prison
- 2. Grand theft-5 years in prison
- 3. Burglary-life in prison

(R 2627-28). All sentences are to run consecutively with the murder sentence but concurrently with each other (R 2628).

This appeal follows.

# STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Robert Jackson had stolen a car in Alabama apparently to make the Grand Tour of the southern United States. In late April 1990, he met Olen Gorby in Texas, and the two rode together as they drove to Tennessee (T 539-41). Jackson paid for the gas and motel bills (T 571-72). After spending a few days there, they drove to Panama City, and Jackson checked into a motel (T 542). That night he went to a local bar where he ran into Gorby, who had picked up a girl (T 542-43). Sometime during the evening, the two men got into a fight, and Jackson decided he needed to return to Tennessee so he could "get my head together, go over all that happened." (T 547) He stayed there for only a short while, and deciding he wanted a job, he returned to Panama City on Sunday May 6. He checked into a homeless shelter known as the Rescue Mission because by this time he was "low on cash." (T 551)

Jackson attended a church service at the Rescue Mission, and during it, Gorby came in briefly to thank everyone for the help they had given him (T 554). He had stayed at the shelter on Friday and Saturday but left Sunday morning.

J.A. Raborn was a cripple, and he occasionally picked up drifters and strangers to do odd jobs about his trailer in Bay County (T 714, 719). On Sunday May 6, he told a neighbor that he needed a commode seat fixed, and later that day, he apparently picked up Gorby to make the repair (T 630, 689).

The next afternoon, his neighbor saw a note on the door of Raborn's trailer which merely said "will be home Tuesday."

-4-

(T 717) It was ostensibly written by Gorby (T 1259). Opening the door with the key Raborn had given to her, she went inside and found Raborn's body laying on the bathroom floor (T 717). It was later determined that he had died from seven blows to the head by a hammer (T 1380, 1383), and although there was an electrical cord and Raborn's shirt wrapped around his neck, strangulation was not a cause of or factor in the victim's death (T 1377).<sup>1</sup>

Over the next two days, someone used Raborn's credit cards to buy gas at various locations from Florida to a community outside of San Antonia, Texas. Gorby showed up at Allen Brown's house<sup>2</sup> in San Antonia on May 8 driving a car generally matching the description of Raborn's vehicle (T 791). He told his friend that he had stolen some credit cards, a car, and murdered someone (T 791).

Gorby apparently sold the car sometime later to Cleo Callaway, a stranger he had picked up hitchhiking in Texas (T 1001-1003). The defendant was eventually arrested and returned to Panama City. While awaiting trial, he told another inmate, that he did not like homosexuals and that "he had beat a dude with a hammer." (T 1302)

-5-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Raborn also had a blood alcohol level of .11 (T 1395).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Brown was a friend of Gorby. He was deaf and a cocaine addict who had many problems. Among them, he got confused and could not remember things correctly. On 8 May, he was using cocaine, marijuana, and alcohol together (T 798-99).

When questioned by the police, Gorby said that he had traveled to Florida from Texas with Jackson (T 1198). Jackson introduced the defendant to Raborn and later took him to Raborn's trailer (T 1203). Gorby did some work for Raborn and was paid \$15 for his labor (T 1203). Jackson returned Gorby to Panama City and later at a bar the pair evidently got into an argument because Jackson pulled out a gun and told the defendant that he had just killed one person and would kill another if he had to (T 1204). The next day, the defendant and Jackson headed for Texas, and when Jackson learned that the police had gone to Gorby's friend's house, he became scared and fled (T 1205).

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Gorby presents this court with nine guilt phase and four penalty phase issues for it to consider. He first argues that the court erred when it denied his request to continue his trial. Delays should be freely granted to avoid some identifiable prejudice to the defendant. In this case, the defendant told the court he needed more time to pursue leads which would have cast doubt on the veracity of the state's witnesses that he was seen driving a car similar to that Raborn owned. Additionally, he needed more time to develop his penalty phase defense regarding the brain damage he suffered as a child. In short, Gorby asked for more time to develop specific issues rather than chasing some speculative theory.

Cleo Calloway identified Gorby as the one who had sold him Raborn's car. The court admitted the procedures used to make the identification were suggestive, but it allowed the in-court identification anyway. That was error because it was two months after Calloway had bought the car that he picked Gorby out of a photospread. The officer who showed him the pictures asked him if the person who had sold him the car had any tattoos, at which point Calloway "remembered" that he did. Until then, Calloway had never mentioned anything about tattoos. Significantly, Gorby's picture was the only one in the six man photospread that showed any tattoos.

Jerry Wyche was a key witness for the state because while he and Gorby shared a cell, Wyche claimed the defendant had told him he did not like homosexuals and "he had beat a dude

-7-

with a hammer." That was probably the most inculpatory evidence the state presented. Gorby's lawyer's ex-partner, however, had represented Wyche while the partnership existed, and the defendant's lawyer had stood in for her when she could not attend some hearings scheduled in Wyche's case. The court refused to recognize any conflict of interest. That was error because there was a risk of a conflict, which trial counsel may have silently resolved in Wyche's favor. The Sixth Amendment so favors risk free representation that even the smell of a taint precludes counsel from representing a defendant if there is the possibility of some conflict.

The state also used questioned documents examiner Karen Smith to identify the handwriting of a note found on Raborn's door with Gorby. During her qualification as an expert, she told the jury that she had formerly worked for the state lottery, and in response to a state hypothetical question, she agreed that she had to verify the authenticity of signatures before a "forty million dollar" lottery prize was awarded. In closing, the state improperly bolstered Smith's reputation by converting the hypothetical into a fact: that she was a reliable witness because the lottery people had relied on her verification of signatures before awarding millions of dollars. That was error because a witness's reputation cannot be bolstered by specific instances of conduct, it cannot be rehabilitated until there has been an attack on it (which Gorby had not done), and it bolstered her trustworthiness rather than her reputation for truthfulness.

-8-

During its closing argument, the state said Gorby had never shown any remorse for killing Raborn. That was error as the court recognized, but its tepid curative instruction did not erase the damage of the comment. The court told the jury only to disregard the state's allegation. It never chastised the prosecutor for it, or in any other way let the jury know that what they had heard was grossly improper.

Similarly, during the state's case in chief, a witness said Raborn needed to help Gorby because he had just gotten out of jail. Again the court sustained the defendant's objection to the comment, yet its curative instruction "to disregard the last comment of the witness" in no way assuaged the damage done by what this person had said.

And again, during Robert Jackson's testimony for the state, the prosecutor asked its witness whether he and Gorby had had a fight. The court again granted defense counsel's objection and again told the jury disregard "the last comment of the witness." As before, or when considered with the other errors in this trial, that admonishment could not erase the damage done.

As usually done in murder cases, the state wanted several pictures of the crime scene admitted. While Gorby, as is also common, objected to many of the photographs, his claim became much stronger when the state also wanted to introduce a videotape of the crime scene. In other words, the jury got a double dose, and a highly subjective one at that, of the crime scene. While admitting the pictures was probably not error by

-9-

itself, nor was admitting the videotape, the court unfairly highlighted the crime scene when it admitted the pictures and the tape.

The court, at the state's request, told Gorby to exhibit his tattoos to a witness. While there is controlling precedent to the contrary, the defendant asks this court to re-examine it and hold that the court erred in ruling as it did.

In the penalty phase of the trial, the court ruled that Gorby and a person identified in a Texas conviction for robbery as Freddie Banks were the same. It based this ruling solely on the testimony of a police officer who said the booking sheet listed that name as an alias Gorby had used. The court erred in that it removed the issue of identity of Freddie Banks as also being Gorby from the jury's consideration. It also erred in that the state presented insufficient evidence to make that connection.

The court found this murder to have been committed in an especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel manner. Yet the evidence shows that the victim was rendered unconscious almost immediately after the first blow, and there was no evidence he was aware of his impending death for any significant time. Although bludgeoning murders are often especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel, the one in this case was not.

Recent decisions from the United States Supreme Court have cast in doubt this court's efforts to limit the scope of the jury instructions on the aggravating factors especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel.

-10-

Finally, the court refused to tell the penalty phase jury of the penalties Gorby faced for the other crimes, which it had found him guilty of committing.

### ARGUMENT

## ISSUE I

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING GORBY'S MOTION FOR A CONTINUANCE BECAUSE, A VIOLATION OF THE DEFENDANT'S SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS RIGHT TO THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Before trial, Gorby filed a Second Amended Motion for Continuance alleging that he had had inadequate time to prepare for trial. Specifically, he wanted more time to depose two witnesses in Texas who would have cast doubt on the testimony of Allen Brown and Cleo Callaway, crucial state witnesses. The court had also appointed a neuropsychologist who had made a tentative analysis of Gorby but who needed more information to give a more "fully formed" opinion (T 2).

The state objected to this request, noting that it had filed an indictment a year earlier, and the "defense has had more than adequate time to prepare" and investigate its case (T 2). The court agreed with the prosecution, and it denied the defendant's request (T 5). That was error.

Gorby recognizes, of course, that the trial court has discretion in whether or not to grant or deny a motion for continuance and whether to appoint an expert to assist defense counsel. <u>Valle v. State</u>, 394 So.2d 1004 (Fla. 1981); <u>Williams v. State</u>, 438 So.2d 781 (Fla. 1983); <u>Martin v. State</u>, 455 So.2d 455 (Fla. 1984). A court abuses that discretion, however, when a defendant's right to a fair trial and assistance of counsel are violated by denying requests for delay. Thus, a reviewing court looks to the procedural prejudice a defendant has

-12-

suffered rather than any substantive harm he may have realized by the court's ruling.

In <u>Smith v. State</u>, 525 So.2d 477 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) Smith's defense counsel did not get actual notice of the State's disclosure of an additional witness until the day before the scheduled sentencing hearing. This witness provided new and damaging information regarding the sexual battery and lewd conduct charges filed against Smith, and the trial court's reasons for departing from the recommended sentenced tracked language found in her report. Given the short time Smith had actual notice of the State's intent to use this expert and the harmfulness of her anticipated testimony, the court erred in not granting Smith's request to continue the sentencing hearing. Thus, the defendant in that case could point to some definite harm he would suffer by the court's refusal to postpone the hearing.

On the other hand, if the defendant's need for further investigation is speculative, the court does not abuse its discretion by denying a defense request for delay. <u>Woods v.</u> <u>State</u>, 490 So.2d 24 (Fla. 1986). In that case, counsel for Woods wanted more time to determine Woods' involvement in a prison gang which may have coerced him into killing a guard. A prison investigation, however, had never linked Woods with that group, and thus the basis for that request for a continuance was based on "nothing more than conjecture and speculation." <u>Id</u>. at 26.

-13-

Courts, in short, should readily grant defense requests for more time when the State has deliberately or inadvertently given counsel new evidence shortly before trial. <u>Robert Smith</u> <u>v. State</u>, Case No. 90-929, 90-1397 (Fla. 3d DCA April 9, 1991) 16 FLW D965. It need not be so generous when the purported need for more time has only a speculative basis.

In <u>Songer v. State</u>, 419 So.2d 1044 (Fla. 1982), this court held that the trial court had not erred in denying the defendant's request for a thirty day continuance so it could gather find an expert to testify about demographics and the effects of extended drug use. Counsel had had six months to find its expert to support <u>his</u> theories of defense, and he was vague about who he needed and why.

In <u>Richardson v. State</u>, Case No. 76,829 (Fla. April 9, 1992) 17 FLW S241, the trial court should have granted the defendant's request for a continuance because of the late disclosure of a firearm expert's report which retracted an earlier report concerning the identity of a shotgun shell found at the murder scene. Although the error was harmless, this court recognized that in severe cases, such as those involving charges of first degree murder, trial court's should readily grant the requested delay.

In this case, although as the State noted, an indictment had been filed a year earlier (T 4), there is no evidence that defense counsel had been dilatory or sought the delay for some strategic or tactical reasons. To the contrary, part of his problem arose from the need to find and depose witnesses in

-14-

Texas and West Virginia and the attendant logistical and coordination problems that imposed. Additionally, his penalty phase investigator, through no fault of his, had had inadequate time to investigate Gorby's background (T 3, R 2460). This last point was especially crucial because a neuropsychologist had concluded that Gorby suffered some brain damage, and the investigator could have supplied information confirming and corroborating this expert's conclusion (R 2461). Without such evidence, all Gorby presented at the penalty phase about his brain damage was testimony of his mother who said that after being hit by a car, he acted "more nervouser and more-I don't know the -quicker temper or something, and he wasn't the same boy really all the time." (T 1767)

Gorby also needed to depose two Texas witnesses who would have directly contradicted the testimony of other Texas witnesses (one being Allen Brown, the admitted cocaine addict with memory problems (T 796, 799)) that Gorby drove a car similar to the one owned by the victim (T 791, R 2460-61). They were the only witnesses who claimed to have seen Gorby in Raborn's car after his death, and one of them, Cleo Callaway bought the late model vehicle for only \$700 after Gorby ostensibly gave him a ride as he walked along a road in Texas (T 1003). Defense counsel was unable to personally subpoena one of the crucial witnesses, and the other never appeared for a scheduled deposition (R 2461). In light of the inherent lack of credibility of the state's witnesses on this crucial issue, the court should have given the defendant more time to find and

-15-

depose the people who could have bolstered his defense. In short, Gorby wanted more time to develop specific defenses for which he had identified particular witnesses who could aid in developing his guilt and penalty phases defenses. He did not ask for more time to pursue some speculative hypothesis for which which there was only a scent of support and which he would have wandered indefinitely chasing butterflies. He requested more time to get specific information, and he was denied his right to present his case when the court denied his motion for a continuance.

The court therefore erred in not delaying the start of Gorby's trial, and by insisting the trial go forward, it denied Gorby his right to the effective assistance of counsel. <u>Smith</u> v. State, 525 So.2d 477 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988).

-16-

### ISSUE II

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING GORBY'S MOTION TO EXCLUDE CLEO CALLOWAY'S IN-COURT IDENTIFICATION OF HIM IN VIOLATION OF HIS DUE PROCESS RIGHTS.

Cleo Calloway claimed that sometime in the first part of May, his truck broke down, and he called for help (T 1000-1001). As he was walking back to the disabled vehicle, Gorby drove by in Raborn's car, picked him up, and after a brief discussion, offered to sell him the car (T 1003). Calloway gave him \$700 and dropped him off at a bus stop (T 1003). About six weeks later, the police discovered that Calloway had the stolen car, and he was arrested (T 1004). Two weeks after being taken into custody, he was shown a photo-spread of six people, one of whom was Gorby (T 1006). Calloway picked the defendant as the one who had sold him the car.<sup>3</sup> The "main thing that stuck out" in his mind about Gorby was the tattoo he had, and it was that feature that he used to pick the defendant from the other five pictures shown to him (T 991).

Immediately before Calloway testified at Gorby's trial, the defendant moved to suppress his in-court identification of him. The court, after hearing Calloway's testimony, viewing the photospread, and reading the relevant depositions of Calloway and the police officers, agreed with Gorby that there

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