FILED SID J. WHITE OCT 14 1992 V CLERK, SHEREME COURT. By______ Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OLEN CLAY GORBY,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 79,308

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RICHARD B. MARTELL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 300179

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

- 85 -

the extent that this Court disagrees, Appellee would TO contend that the erroneous finding of this aggravating circumstance was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt under State v. DiGuilio, supra, and Rogers v. State, 511 So.2d 526 (Fla. As noted, Judge Sirmons found the existence of four (4) 1987). aggravating circumstances, and Appellant has not challenged two on appeal - that Gorby had been under sentence of imprisonment at the time that he committed this murder and that the murder had been committed for pecuniary gain. Further, in his order, Judge Sirmons explained in detail why he concluded that none of the proffered statutory mitigating circumstances had been established by the evidence (R 2625-2626). The judge found, as non-statutory mitigation, such factors as the fact that Gorby came from a poor background, had an abusive father and a failed marriage; likewise, the court considered the fact that Gorby had been affected by the shooting of his sisters and the fact that he had been a victim of a car accident while young (R 2626). Judge Sirmons found as non-statutory mitigation that Gorby suffered from organic personality syndrome and alcoholic dependence, but noted that, such factors could not be afforded significant weight, given that the expert could not testify with any certainty as to what Gorby's mental state had been at the time of the offense (R 2625-2626). The mitigation proffered, thus, was nowhere near "weighty", and any error as to the finding of this aggravating circumstance was harmless. See, e.g., Bassett v. State, 449 So.2d 863 (Fla. 1984); Hamblen v. Dugger, 546 So.2d 1039 (Fla. 1989); <u>Rivera v. State</u>, 561 So.2d 536 (Fla. 1990);

- 86 -

Holton v. State, 573 So.2d 284 (Fla. 1990); Robinson v. State, 574 So.2d 108 (Fla. 1991); Shere v. State, 579 So.2d 86 (Fla. 1991) (citing <u>Clemons v. Mississippi</u>, 494 U.S. 738 (1990)); <u>Capehart v. State</u>, 583 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 1991); <u>Watts v. State</u>, <u>supra; Pace v. State</u>, 596 So.2d 1034 (Fla. 1992); <u>Gore v. State</u>, 599 So.2d 978 (Fla. 1992).

Finally, the instant death sentence, both with and without the contested aggravating circumstance, is not disproportionate. Olen Gorby was clearly no stranger to the judicial system. He committed this crime while on parole for the Texas burglary and, as noted, had a prior conviction for armed robbery in Texas. Additionally, the PSI, as well as the guidelines scoresheet, indicate a persistent course of criminality, including prior convictions for burglary, conspiracy and forgery (T 2632-2633; Presentence Investigation Report; See Appendix). The instant homicide was committed simply so that Gorby could obtain the wordly goods of the victim - his car and his credit cards, which Gorby then proceeded to utilize to the max. Regardless of the fate of the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating circumstance per se, this was a particularly brutal and callous murder, in which a helpless man was beaten to death with a claw hammer. The victim's only "crime" was that he sought to help Gorby and to pay him for various odd jobs. Further, as noted, the mitigation presented was simply not compelling. Gorby's mental health expert could not testify with any certainty as to Appellant's mental state or state of intoxication at the time of the offense, given the absence of direct testimony from Gorby himself (T 1438-

- 87 --

1439); while the sentencer did expressly find as non-statutory mitigation all of those circumstances which the record would support, the sum total of mitigation in this case is simply minimal, when compared with other capital cases which this Court has reviewed.

The State would respectfully contend that this Court has previously found the death sentence proportionate in cases involving similar facts and a similar balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances. See, e.g., Adams v. State, 341 So.2d 765 (Fla. 1976) (defendant, under sentence of imprisonment and with prior conviction for crime of violence, bludgeons victim to death in his own home, in order to steal jewelry; no mitigation found); Scott v. State, 411 So.2d 866 (Fla. 1982) (defendant, under sentence of imprisonment and with prior conviction for crime of violence, bludgeons victim to death so that he could jewelry; non-statutory mitigation and victim's steal car regarding defendant's difficult early life found); Heiney v. State, supra (defendant, who was under sentence of imprisonment, beat victim to death with claw hammer, so that he could steal victim's car and credit cards; no mitigation found, but jury override affirmed); Cherry v. State, supra (defendant, who had prior conviction for crime of violence, beat victim to death during residential burglary; no mitigation found); Freeman v. So.2d 73 (Fla. 1990) (defendant, who had prior 563 State, convictions for crimes of violence, murdered victim during residential burglary; non-statutory mitigation found). This case involves an interesting contrast with Gilvin v. State, 418 So.2d

- 88 -

996 (Fla. 1982). The facts in Gilvin are virtually identical to those sub judice. The victim, an Episcopal priest, had picked up the defendant, who was hitchhiking, and offered him help in The defendant, however, subsequently beat the finding a job. victim to death with a claw hammer, stole his car and credit cards, and left a note on the victim's door asking callers to come back later. Gilvin claimed that the victim had made homosexual advances to him, something which Gorby apparently tried to suggest occurred here. Although the trial court found a number of valid aggravating circumstances, this Court, over the dissent of three justices, reversed the death sentence, finding that the judge's override of the jury's recommendation of life could not be squared with Tedder v. State, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. In this case, the jury, by a vote of 9-3, voted for 1975). death, and, accordingly, the Tedder standard is inapplicable. The death sentence in this case is not disproportionate, and should be affirmed in all respects.

POINT XII

APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE ANY BASIS FOR REVERSAL, IN REGARD TO HIS PROCEDURALLY-BARRED CLAIM BASED ON <u>ESPINOSA v. FLORIDA</u>, U.S. ___, 112 S.Ct. 2926 (1992)

As his next claim for relief, Gorby contends that his sentence of death must be reversed on the basis of <u>Espinosa v</u>. <u>Florida</u>, _____U.S. ____, 112 S.Ct. 2926 (1992), in that the instruction given his penalty phase jury was allegedly unconstitutionally vague. Given the absence of contemporaneous objection on this basis at the time of trial, the State would

- 89 -

contend that this claim is procedurally barred; alternatively, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt under <u>Chapman v.</u> <u>California</u>, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967). Appellant is entitled to no relief on this claim.

The record in this case indicates that the instruction given in <u>Espinosa</u> was not given in this case, and that, indeed, it was the prosecutor who suggested that further definition of the term be provided (T 1738-1739). When the court asked defense counsel his position on this, at the charge conference, counsel replied,

> I don't know, Judge. I have MR. KOMAREK: basic objection to the entire aggravating circumstance being presented to the jury in that the medical examiner's testimony is that the first blow very likely rendered the victim unconscious and he had no suffering Therefore, it's misleading and whatsoever. to give the jury this jury prejudicial instruction in that there is no evidence of the killing in this case being wicked, evil, We don't get to the atrocious, or cruel. definition, they aren't necessary, and I would request the court to rule as a matter of law that there's not sufficient evidence give this aggravating in this case to circumstance instruction to the jury. It allows them to speculate.

(T 1739) (emphasis supplied).

This objection was overruled (T 1739), and defense counsel interposed <u>no</u> specific objection to the instruction as given (T 1828). It should also be noted that, while defense counsel filed a pretrial motion attacking the constitutionality of the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating circumstance (R 1913), he did nothing comparable as to this aggravating circumstance, and, likewise, would proposed no jury instruction dealing with the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating circumstance, although he did proffer other requested instructions (R 2531-2534).

- 90 -

Court's precedents, this claim is clearly Under this procedurally barred. In Sochor v. State, 580 So.2d 595, 602-603 (Fla. 1991), this Court found an identical claim of error, i.e., that the jury instruction on the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating circumstance was unconstitutionally vague, to be absence of contemporaneous procedurally barred, given the objection on this basis at trial. In its opinion on certiorari, Sochor v. Florida, supra, the United States Supreme Court specifically honored this procedural bar, thus conclusively putting to rest any notion that this claim was fundamental in Sochor, 112 S.Ct. at 2119-2120. Further, this Court nature. applied a procedural bar to a claim of this nature, based upon Espinosa, in Kennedy v. Singletary, 17 F.L.W. S464 (Fla. July 16, 1992). While Kennedy represented a collateral proceeding, this Court's finding of procedural bar was apparently based upon a lack of contemporaneous objection at trial; as occurred here, Kennedy's counsel objected to the <u>fact</u> that the judge was instructing the jury on this aggravating factor, rather than "the wording of the instruction itself." Id. On the basis of Kennedy and Sochor, this claim is procedurally barred.

This Court made an alternative finding of harmless error in <u>Kennedy</u>, and the State would not oppose such action in this case. Initially, Appellee must state its disagreement with the United States Supreme Court's characterization of Florida law in <u>Espinosa</u>. While this Court has, of course, commented upon the importance of a jury's recommendation, <u>cf</u>. <u>Tedder</u>, <u>supra</u>, <u>Grossman</u>, <u>supra</u>, it has <u>never</u> held, as the United States Supreme

- 91 -

Court did in Espinosa, that the jury must be considered a "coactor" in our capital sentencing structure, or that the sentencing judge must, as part of his sentencing responsibility, weigh the jury's recommendation, almost as if it were a nonstatutory aggravating factor. This construction of §921.141, of course, completely undermines the clear legislative intent that the sentencing judge's sentence be "independent", §921.141(3), and can be said to move our statute towards Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238, 92 S.Ct. 2726, 33 L.Ed.2d 346 (1972), rather than away from it. This construction also ignores many precedents of this Court, such as Combs v. State, 525 So.2d 853, 857 (Fla. 1988), in which this Court held:

Clearly under our process, the court is the decision-maker and the sentencer - not the jury. This Court had no intention of changing the clear statutory directive that the jury's role is advisory when we held that, before a judge may override a jury recommendation of life imprisonment, he must find the facts are 'so clear and convincing that virtually no reasonable person could differ,' <u>Tedder v. State</u>, 322 So.2d 908, 910 (Fla. 1975).

Because <u>this</u> Court's construction of Florida law is binding upon all other courts, <u>cf</u>. <u>Wainwright v. Goode</u>, 464 U.S. 78, 104 S.Ct. 378, 78 L.Ed.2d 187 (1983), the State would respectfully request this Honorable Court to correct and clarify the characterization of Florida's capital sentencing structure set forth by the United States Supreme Court in Espinosa.

Additionally, any alleged error in the jury instructions on this aggravating circumstance was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt under <u>DiGuilio</u> and <u>Chapman</u>; of course, seeing as the United

- 92 -

States Supreme Court has never stated what a constitutionally adequate instruction on this appravating circumstance should say, it is difficult to determine how wide of mark the present instruction is. The instruction in this case did draw the jury's attention to the crime's pitilessness or cruelty, defined as involving the infliction of a high degree of pain, utter indifference to, or enjoyment of, the suffering of another (T 1825). This terminology is certainly comparable to the language, "a conscienceless or pitiless crime which is unnecessarily torturous to the victim, " apparently approved in Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 96 S.Ct. 2960, 49 L.Ed.2d 913 (1976). While the jury in this case was also instructed on definitions of the terms "heinous" and "atrocious", a practice apparently now disfavored by the United States Supreme Court, the State cannot see how such action can be said to have tainted the verdict in this cause. Both the prosecutor and defense attorney, in arguing for and against this aggravating factor, focused upon the victim's suffering, or alleged lack thereof, and the pitiless nature of this killing (T 1795-1797; 1815-1816).

Further, even if the language of this jury instruction was somehow prejudicial, any error was harmless, because, under the facts of this case, it can be said that a properly instructed jury would have concluded that this aggravating circumstance existed. <u>Cf. Clemons v. Mississippi</u>, 494 U.S. 738, 110 S.Ct. 1441, 108 L.Ed.2d 725 (1990); <u>Stringer v. Black</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 112 S.Ct. 1130 (1992). Additionally, it must be noted that the sentencing judge in his order applied the appropriate narrowing

- 93 -

construction, in finding this aggravating circumstance, and it must be presumed that this Court will do likewise. <u>Cf</u>. <u>Walton</u> <u>v. Arizona</u>, 497 U.S. 639, 110 S.Ct. 3047, 111 L.Ed.2d 571 (1990); <u>Bertolotti v. Dugger</u>, 883 F.2d 1503, 1526-1527 (11th Cir. 1989), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 110 S.Ct. 3296 (1990). Finally, it would not appear that the "primary evil" condemned in <u>Espinosa</u> occurred <u>sub judice</u>, inasmuch as Judge Sirmons, in his sentencing order, never states that he afforded <u>any</u> weight to the jury's recommendation of death (R 2621-2629). Acordingly, even should any claim be preserved for review, any error was harmless.⁶

POINT XIII

APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE REVERSIBLE ERROR, IN REGARD TO THE DENIAL OF HIS REQUEST THAT THE JURY BE INSTRUCTED ON THE PENALTIES FOR THE NON-CAPITAL OFFENSES

As his final point, Gorby contends that his sentence of death must be reversed, because the trial court denied his request that the jury be instructed on the maximum penalties for his non-capital offenses. Appellant cites to this Court's recent decision, <u>Wright v. State</u>, 596 So.2d 456 (Fla. 1992), and argues that this was important information for the jury to know,

The State would maintain this position, even should this Court strike the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating circumstance itself, as urged by Appellant in Point XI. This aggravating circumstance was one of four submitted to the jury, and cannot be said to have been the focus of the State's presentation at the Clemons, supra. Further, as noted above, penalty phase. Cf. Judge Sirmons, in his sentencing order, never expressly stated that he afforded any weight to the jury's recommendation (R 2621-Thus, the judge's sentencing determination was truly 2629). independent, and any error arising from this jury instruction was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, for the reasons set forth in Point XI, supra.

claiming that the jury might "recommend death because even those prison terms inadequately safeguard the people of the state." (Initial Brief, pg. 54). The State respectfully suggests that Gorby himself has demonstrated the fallacy of his argument, and that no relief is warranted as to this claim.

The record in this case indicates that defense counsel submitted a proposed jury instruction, to the effect that the maximum penalty for burglary was life imprisonment, for robbery fifteen years, and for grand theft auto five years (R 2532). At the penalty phase charge conference, the State objected to this instruction, but suggested that it would be proper for counsel to make these arguments in his closing argument to the jury, if he wished (T 1745); the judge denied the instruction (T 1745). The this record in case further indicates that, during his examination of Gorby's mother at the penalty phase, defense counsel specifically elicited testimony from her to the effect that Gorby was presently forty-one (41) years old, and that he would sixty-six (66) after serving a minimum term of twenty-five years (T 1766). The following exchange, without objection, then took place:

Q: That does not include the additional sentence he would receive for robbery, burglary, and theft; is that true?

A: Far as I know, Paul.

(T 1766).

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